IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHNNY WILLIAMSON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DIXIE COUNTY, FLORIDA.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

007 00 1335

68800

CASE NO. CF-130

DAVID A. DAVIS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FL 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ii

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIRST DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

JOHNNY WILLIAMSON,	:
Appellant,	:
v .	:
STATE OF FLORIDA,	:
Appellee.	:
	:

CASE NO. CF-130

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Johnny Williamson is the Appellant in this case. The record on Appeal consists of 9 volumes, and references to it will be indicated by the letter "R".

Omer Williamson is a co-defendant, and throughout this brief, he will be identified as either Omer Williamson or as Omer. The Appellant will be referred to as Williamson.

-1-

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment filed in the circuit court for Dixie County on October 22, 1985, charged Johnny Williamson, Omer Williamson (no relation), and James Robertson with first degree murder and the unlawful possession of a knife while inmates at Cross City Correctional Institution (R.I). Williamson pled not guilty to these charges, and for purposes of this appeal he filed only one pre-trial motion, a Motion to Sever (Def.R.33), which the court denied (R.119).

Williamson was tried from April 7-10, 1986, before the Honorable Judge Arthur Lawerence and found guilty of both counts (R.137). Omer Williamson had earlier pled guilty to first degree murder with the condition that he would be sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of parole for 25 years (R.582). The State agreed with this plea and sentence on the condition that Omer Williamson cooperate with the State against Williamson and Robertson (R.581).

Robertson was found guilty only of the possession charge (R.838).

Williamson proceeded to the penalty phase of the trial at which he testified. After hearing the evidence, argument, and law, the jury returned a recommendation of death by a vote of 11-1 (R.138).

The Court accordingly sentenced Williamson to death (R.143-144). In aggravation the Court found:

1. The capital felony was committed while Williamson was under Sentence of imprisonment.

2. Williamson has been previously convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person of another.

-2-

3. The murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without a pretense of justification.

R.148-149.

The Court found nothing in mitigation (R.150).

The Court also sentenced Williamson to 15 years in prison for the possession conviction (R.143) to be served concurrently with the death sentence (R.143).

This appeal follows.

III STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Daniel Drew was an inmate drug dealer at Cross City Correctional Institution (R.503). He also made knives for inmates (R.518, 525-526), and was a chronic gambler (R.872). Williamson and Omer Williamson (no relation to Appellant) were also inmates at the prison and were "partners" (R.502). This meant they covered each other's backs and looked after each other (R.502). They also were selling marijuana Drew brought into the prison (R.503).

Omer Williamson owed Drew \$15.00 for marijuana he had bought from him (R.504-505), but he had no intention of repaying him because Drew was lying to him (R.505). He told Williamson that he did not intend to repay Drew, and Williamson asked Omer Williamson if he was going to do anything. Omer replied that he was only going to "Bust him in the head or something." (R.511). Williamson said he could not do that because Drew was a "country boy" who would stab him (R.511). Instead, Williamson said they would have to kill Drew (R.511). Omer Williamson, after thinking about what Williamson said, agreed (R.512).

They needed a knife, but neither man had one (R.513). Robertson, who was known as "chickenhead" (R.501-502), learned of the plan, and he said that he would find a knife for them (R.513). He talked to several people, but none of them had a knife he could use (R.517-518). Omer Williamson, however, went to his cell and got a metal rod from the sink that Drew had sharpened for him some time earlier (R.518).

Williamson and Omer Williamson then went to the shop where Drew worked and asked someone there to send Drew outside (R.524). When Drew came outside, Omer Williamson stood behind him while Williamson stood

-4-

in front (R.525). Williamson gave Drew \$5.00 and said that they would get the rest of the money Omer Williamson owed him (R.525). Drew apparently had made a knife for Williamson and he gave it to him at that time (R.525-526). Williamson then signaled Omer Williamson, and Omer grabbed Drew by the throat and pulled him towards him (R.527). Williamson struck Drew, and he began screaming. Omer Williamson then threw Drew to the ground, and he kicked Drew "a couple of times" in the head (R.527). Omer tried to stop Drew from screaming by putting his hand over Drew's mouth to muffle the screams (R.527). Williamson struck Drew in the thigh, and he began to bleed profusely (T.528). Omer Williamson said he was "grossed-out" and he left (T.528). According to Omer Williamson, Williamson had straddled Drew and continued stabbing him with the knife and metal rod (R.528).

When Williamson left Drew, he gave Omer the metal rod, and Williamson replaced it in the sink in his cell (R.530). Chickenhead, who had been acting as a lookout (R.524), was given the knife (R.613), and he eventually buried it (R.629).

Williamson denied that he had any intent to kill Drew (R.890). Instead, he approached Drew only to ask him for more time so that Omer Williamson could raise the money he owed Drew (R.892-893). He did this because he was a friend. Apparently, he mollified Drew, especially when he gave him \$5 in payment of the \$15 debt (R.894).

As he talked with Drew, he noticed that Drew had his hand in his pocket which caused him grave concern because the way he had his hand in his pocket was unnatural (R.895). In any event, as Williamson turned to leave, Omer Williamson jumped Drew (R.895). When he turned around

-5-

Drew had taken a knife out of his pocket and at that point Williamson joined the fight "as some kind of primitive instinct [took] over" (R.896).

Corrections officers quickly arrested Williamson, Omer Williamson, and Robertson.

Drew had several wounds to the face, abdomen, back, and knee (R.691-697), and he died as a result of those stab wounds (R.706).

IV SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I ISSUE I

Williamson and Omer Williamson were both charged with the first degree murder of Daniel Drew. Omer Williamson pled guilty to that charge in exchange for a sentence of life in prison and an agreement to assist the state in its prosecution of Williamson.

During closing arguments, counsel for Williamson argued that this homicide could be a manslaughter. The State responded by saying that it must be lst degree murder because Omer Williamson had pled guilty to lst Degree Murder. Such argument was error as Omer Williamson's plea was irrelevant to prove Williamson's guilt of lst degree murder. That is, the state's guilt by association argument unfairly disparaged Williamson's argument that this was not a lst degree murder by arguing that if Omer Williamson pled guilty to lst degree murder, than Williamson must also be guilty of that crime.

Such argument was not harmless error as Omer Williamson was the state's key witness, yet he had significant credibility problems. The credibility of his story, however, was artificially bolstered by the State's argument that Williamson was guilty of 1st degree murder because Omer Williamson had pled guilty to that crime. After all, confessing guilt to this offense certainly was against his penal interests, and only guilty people plead guilty to the crimes charged then with committing. Yet for Omer Williamson the plea was not as significant as the State's promise that he would not be sentenced to death, a benefit of far more significance in light of the real possibility that had he gone to trial and been convicted of 1st degree murder he could have received a sentence of death. Thus, for Omer Williamson the life sentence was of far more importance than his guilty plea, and rather than reflecting

-7-

a conscious admission of guilty, his plea may have been only a prerequisite to avoiding the electric chair, the real object of his plea.

II ISSUE II

In sentencing Williamson to death, the court made no mention of the fact that his co-defendant, Omer Williamson, received a life sentence. This was error as the sentence equally culpable co-defendant receives is relevant evidence in mitigation.

The evidence, moreover, indicates that Omer Williamson was at least as culpable as Williamson in committing this murder. While Williamson suggested that Drew had to be killed to protect themselves, both men actively sought weapons to commit the crime. Moreover, Omer Williamson initiated the assault by throwing Drew to the ground and kicking him. There is also evidence that Omer Williamson stabbed Drew.

The trial court made no mention of Omer Williamson's equal culpability in this murder, and there is thus no evidence that he considered it in sentencing Williamson to death.

III ISSUE III

Assuming that this murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner, does not mean that the aggravating factor defined in Section 921.141(5)(i), Florida Statutes (1985), applies to this case as the court said it did in its sentencing order. This is true because Williamson had at least a pretense of legal justification for killing Drew: self-defense. Moreover, the evidence was conflicting about the facts of the murder with Williamson admitting joining the fight only after Omer Williamson had unexpectedly started a fight with Drew.

-8-

The self-defense justification arose from Omer Williamson's refusal to pay a \$15 debt he owed Drew for some marijuana he had bought from him. Williamson knew that Drew would not tolerate non-payment of this debt, and Omer Williamson's simple idea of beating Drew would be inadequate because Drew would kill him. As Omer Williamson's "partner," Williamson realized that an attack on Omer Williamson would also involve an attack on him. Thus, the only way to protect themselves was to attack Drew before he could choose the time and place to attack them. While such a defense may have been insufficient to justify a self-defense instruction, it does at least present a pretense of legal justification. As such, the aggravating factor defined in Section 921.141(5)(i), Florida Statutes (1985), was inapplicable.

V ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING WILLIAM-SON'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL WHEN THE STATE SAID IN CLOSING ARGUMENT THAT THE CO-DEFENDANT HAD PLED GUILTY TO IST DEGREE MURDER AND THAT FACT WAS EVIDENCE THAT WILLIAMSON ALSO COMMITTED A IST DEGREE MURDER.

During the State's closing argument, the State alleged that Williamson must be guilty of 1st Degree Murder because his co-defendant, Omer Williamson had pled guilty to First Degree Murder:

> Now, Mr. Slaughter said that looking at Presley's testimony and looking at what Chickenhead said after the killing to Bishop, that nobody knew there was going to be a killing ahead of time. That Omer said he was just going in there to collect a knife--or to get a knife to collect on his debts. Well, I find that very interesting. When Alabama was out earlier in the morning, looking for a knife, saying, "I'm going to kill him." When they told him, when Omer--if that's the case, then we're talking about a manslaughter case, maybe? What did Omer do? He pled guilty to first-degree murder. Now, does that make any sense? If it wasn't premeditated, why would Omer have subjected himself to first-degree murder?

MR. McKEEVER (counsel for Williamson): Objection. May we approach the bench?

THE COURT: You may.

(WHEREUPON, THE FOLLOWING PROCEEDINGS WERE HAD AT THE BENCH, OUT OF THE HEARING OF THE JURY, AS FOLLOWS:)

MR. McKEEVER: I make a motion for a mistrial based on the prosecutor's statements, because the obvious inference from his statements is that in light of the co-defendant's plea to the charge, these defendants must also be guilty of the charge.

MR. PHELPS: No, that's not it at all. This is an argument in direct rebuttal to Mr. Slaughter's argument that they didn't know, that Omer's own statement was they didn't know there was going to be a killing. And both he and Mr. McKeever talked about manslaughter. pleading guilty to that offense. Thus, if Omer Williamson had pled guilty to lst Degree Murder, Williamson must also be guilty of lst Degree Murder. Said another way, Omer Williamson would not have pled guilty unless he was in fact guilty of lst Degree Murder, and because he did so, Williamson must also be guilty of lst Degree Murder. See, <u>Moore v. State</u>, 186 So.2d 56 (Fla. 3d DCA 1966); <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 202 So.2d 883 (Fla. 3d DCA 1967).

In every criminal case, a defendant's guilt must be established by relevant evidence of his guilt of the crime charged. Evidence or arguments of a co-defendant's guilt are irrelevant as the reasons one person pleads guilty may have little to do with the guilt of the defendant.

In this case, Williamson had argued that this killing was manslaughter. The State's response was that it was lst Degree Murder. Why? Because Omer Williamson had already pled guilty to lst Degree Murder, and as he was a co-defendant of Williamson, Williamson must also be guilty of lst Degree Murder. Such argument was not a fair comment on Williamson's argument as the evidence of Omer Williamson's plea was irrelevant to prove Williamson's guilt. See, Ferguson v. State, 419 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1982).

This argument, however, was understandable in light of the witnesses the State had to use to present its case. Omer Williamson was its key witness, and he was an acknowledged liar (T.574-576,584), who (in light of his plea agreement with the State) had a motive to lie on the stand (T.580-582). He also had made threats to get back at Williamson (T.723).¹

¹While awaiting trial, Omer Williamson told another inmate that he would "fix [Williamson's] ass" (R.723). Williamson apparently had learned that Omer Williamson was in prison for committing child sexual batteries instead of 2d Degree Murder as he had claimed, and Williamson was calling him a child molester (R.723).

Now, what we're talking about here--all I'm saying is that it doesn't make sense for him to plead guilty to first-degree murder if all it was was manslaughter that he did. That's what I'm saying, and that's not a mistrial.

THE COURT: It's denied.

(T.809-809).

What the state was referring to, was Williamson's closing argument where

counsel for Williamson had said:

The portions of the law that I think are critically important in this case, and these facts that you have heard, are what is murder in the first degree? First and foremost, what are we talking about when we are talking about murder in the first degree? And the critical part, if you haven't already figured it out, because Omer James Williamson figured it out, is the premeditation. We make it murder in the first degree, and somebody else has got to die.

(T.749).

* * *

Let's talk about the law--I am sorry, but the teacher is going to keep teaching for a few minutes-of manslaughter. The judge will tell you that manslaughter can be committed--let me be clear about something here, and I hope you are, because it wasn't clear when the State talked to you. When there is a killing, quote, his words, "It's not murder every time." The judge will tell you that. It can be murder in the second degree. It can be attempted murder. It can be manslaughter. It can be several different things.

(T.751).

The State's theory seemed to be that if Williamson could argue that this crime was not lst Degree Murder, he could rebut it by pointing out that Omer Williamson had already admitted it was lst Degree Murder by Other important witnesses were also inmates with obvious credibility problems. (See, e.g., T.598,608.) Omer Williamson's credibility, however, was unfairly bolstered by the argument of the state which focused on his guilty plea to lst Degree Murder. The jury's attention was diverted from those significant weaknesses in the State's witnesses' credibility, and instead of evaluating their credibility, the State in essence told the jury that it could avoid that problem altogether by simply inferring Williamson's guilt from the fact that Omer Williamson had already pled guilty to lst Degree Murder.

Omer Wiliamson admitted that he was guilty of lst Degree Murder, an offense charged by the State and obviously against his penal interests. Such a damning admission made for a potent argument that Williamson was also guilty of lst Degree Murder as the State did not have to discuss Omer Williamson's credibility; instead, if the State believed Omer Williamson was guilty of lst Degree Murder and he agreed with them, then Johnny Williamson was also guilty of lst Degree Murder.

But, personal beliefs of the prosecutor are irrelevant to prove a charged crime. <u>Harris v. State</u>, 414 So.2d 557 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982). Likewise, for the prosecutor to argue that the State does not charge or try innocent people, or that the police would have cleared a defendant if he was innocent, is improper argument. <u>Ryan v. State</u>, 457 So.2d 1084 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984); <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 235 So.2d 354 (Fla. 3d DCA 1970); <u>Richardson v. State</u>, 335 So.2d 835 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976). The State's references to Omer Williamson's admission of guilt is a variation of this theme. Would a witness, particularly a state witness, for whose credibility the State has vouched, "subject himself to 1st Degree Murder" if he did not believe he was in fact guilty of 1st Degree Murder? If he was innocent of 1st Degree Murder, then he would not have pled guilty to that crime.

-13-

In this case where the most damaging evidence of Williamson's guilt of premeditated murder came from inmates, especially Omer Williamson, it can not be said that the State's guilt by association argument was harmless beyond all reasonable doubt, as the credibility of the inmate witnesses was the key issue. This is especially true in light of Williamson's argument admitting committing the homicide, but denying that it was lst Degree Murder (T.762). On that crucial point, the State's argument concerning Omer Williamson's plea to lst Degree Murder had a significant, unfair prejudicial impact upon the jury and was reversible error.

ISSUE II

THE COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING WILLIAM-SON TO DEATH AS HIS CO-DEFENDANT, OMER WILLIAMSON, WAS EQUALLY CULPABLE BUT RECEIVED A LIFE SENTENCE.

The State's key witness in this case was Omer Williamson. He admitted participating in killing Drew, yet he received a life sentence on condition that he testify at Williamson's trial (T.560, 581). Williamson, on the other hand, was sentenced to death, and this was error as both shared the same culpability for this murder.

The sentence Omer Williamson received is, of course, a relevant mitigating circumstance the trial court should have considered in sentencing Williamson to death. <u>Bassett V. State</u>, 449 So.2d 803 (Fla. 1983) persons who participate in committing a murder and share the same culpability should receive similar sentences. <u>McCaskill v. State</u>, 344 So.2d 1276, 1280 (Fla. 1977). In this case, Williamson and Omer Williamson shared similar culpability in the murder of Drew, yet they received dissimilar sentences.

Omer Williamson admitted starting the fight in which Drew was killed when he grabbed Drew by the throat, threw him to the ground, and began kicking him in the head (R.527). Although he did not say he stabbed Drew, others said Omer Williamson admitted stabbing him (R.614).² Moreover, while Williamson stabbed Drew, Omer Williamson continued to kick him (R.527). Thus, unlike other cases this court has faced, Omer Williamson

²Omer Williamson said he gave Williamson the rod he had taken from his sink to use as a knife. That story is hard to believe, as it required Williamson to stab Drew with two knives then return one of them to Omer Williamson. A more believable account is that Omer Williamson kept the rod and used it during the attack while Williamson used the knife Drew gave him.

played a major role in committing this murder. <u>Brown v. State</u>, 473 SO.2d 1260, 1268 (Fla. 1985); <u>Brown v. State</u>, 367 So.2d 616 (Fla. 1977). Omer Williamson did not stand silent or remain passive during the commission of this crime, <u>Marek</u>, 492 So.2d 1055 (Fla. 1986); <u>Bolender v. State</u>, 422 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1982), and both men had similar roles. <u>Troedel v. State</u>, 462 So.2d 392 (Fla. 1984). Omer Williamson certainly was not a follower in committing this murder. <u>Witt v. State</u>, 342 So.2d 497 (Fla. 1977). Once Williamson gave the signal, Omer Williamson initiated the fight.

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