P	ft	8	ili son	
2			्रेक इन्होत्र[	Barrier FE

# IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

1987 8 VIAL

CLERK, SUPREME COUR	ģ
CLERK, SUPALME COUR	
Deputy Olerk	

JOHNNY WILLIAMSON,

Appell*a*nt,

v.

CASE NO. <del>CF-13</del>0 68800

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DIXIE COUNTY, FLORIDA

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ANDREA SMITH HILLYER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The court did not err in denying Appellant's motion for mistrial made in response to the prosecutor's closing argument, as the argument was a proper comment on the evidence in rebuttal to defense counsel's assertions that the crime was merely manslaughter. The court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for mistrial.

The court did not err in sentencing Appellant to death. That Omer Williamson allegedly received a life sentence does not invalidate Appellant's death sentence, as the jury was fully aware of the terms of Omer Williamson's plea bargain. Appellant did not present evidence of Omer's life sentence as mitigating evidence in the sentencing phase of the trial; but the jury was aware of Omer's deal.

The court did not err in finding the aggravating circumstance that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. The evidence was sufficient to show heightened premeditation and advance planning on the part of Appellant. In short, this murder was a prison execution over a \$15 drug debt, planned well in advance by Appellant.

-10-

#### WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL AS TO THE STATE'S CLOSING ARGUMENT CON-CERNING CO-DEFENDANT OMER WILLIAMSON'S PLEA OF GUILTY TO FIRST-DEGREE MURDER

During the state's first closing argument, counsel for the state, in reviewing the evidence for the jury, emphasized the testimony of eyewitnesses to the first-degree murder and evidence of premeditation:

> What other evidence do we have of premeditation? Ah-ha, Mr. McKeever would lead you to believe, in his opening statement, that there was no other evidence of premeditation other than the testimony of Omer Williamson, who he painted this horrible picture of as a child abuser, a homosexual, and all of Well, those things pale in comthat. parison to murder. The worst thing about Omer Williamson is, he is a murderer. He is a killer. He pled guilty to that. Johnny Williamson is a murderer, and is a killer. He is the one who actually did the killing.

Defense Exhibit 5 was introduced. Now, we didn't object when this was introduced. And I want you to go back and look at this. I want you to take a look at this. What is it that Omer Williamson pled guilty to? Murder in the first degree and possession of contraband in prison, as charged.

(R 734)

Defense counsel in closing argument argued there was no pre-

meditation and that it was self-defense. Defense counsel, in attacking Omer Williamson's credibility, argued in detail the plea bargain and that Omer was fabricating the 'plan' in order to hang Appellant:

> Now, if we don't have premeditation, folks, nobody faces the chance of the death penalty. We don't have to go through that phase of the trial. The only person--and I'm not misleading anybody, and I'm not making promises I can't live up to--the only sole human being witness who told you about a plan was Omer James Williamson. We can almost turn to the court reporter and say, "read it back". There is no plan without Omer James Williamson telling you there is a plan. Well, I think there was a plan, and we'll talk about the plan.

It's not automatic murder in the first degree. That's your decision from the facts.

(R 751)

So he decided that he would kill or "take out", in his wonderful language, Alabama. This is a one-sight heavier situation for Omer James Williamson than \$15. He is facing the death penalty and having to sit at that table and have a lawyer argue to you not to consider the death penalty. Fifteen bucks was worth taking somebody out, wasn't it? Well, what do you think he is doing in this situation? He is taking out these two guys so that he has got protection, and a deal. And what a sweetheart deal.

Not their fault again, but he knows what they think is the truth. And all he has to do is tell that story, and he has got his deal. They are so confident in it, they are so happy with it before trial, that he doesn't even have to take a polygraph. Just part of the deal. If they didn't believe him, "you got to take a polygraph." Did he do that? So he gets his deal, and plans his killing, and here we sit. All you have got to do is suggest the death penalty, and his deal goes clickity-clack down the track. He's got them both dead, and he]s got his \$15, and his time in prison as a protected inmate. A sweetheart deal. And we're supposed to rely on his testimony.

(R 764)

In rebuttal closing argument, the state argued that if the jury convicted Appellant of anything less than first degree murder, then Appellant would receive a sentence lighter than Omer Jones Williamson: (R 773)

> Now, anything less than first-degree murder, and he is going to serve less-or he will receive less than Omer Williamson. Now, Mr. McKeever says that's a sweetheart deal, a sweetheart deal. Yessiree. I can just see this now. He is sitting in his cell, and he say's "Yeah, I'm going to really fix that Alabama. I'm going to really fix him. I'm going to plead straight up to murder I. I'm going to plead guilty as charged to murder I and possession of contraband. Yeah, that ought to show Alabama, huh? I'm going to lie."

(R 773)

Next came the closing argument sequence as to co-defendant Robertson. Robertson's counsel argued that although Roberston acted as a lookout, he did not know anything about a murder being planned, and that Omer's statement that Robertson knew beforehand that Drew was to be killed is not a reliable statement. (R 795-797) In attempting to discredit Omer, Robertson's counsel (Slaughter) argued:

-13-

Like Mr. McKeever pointed out to you, before he had to tell anybody his version of the facts, he had the opportunity to hear the state tell the judge at the time his plea was taken what the state's version of the facts in this case would be. He had a preview.

Now, it's time that this man has come in and he has pled guilty as charged. He has pled guilty to murder in the first degree. That's pretty heavy. I agree with that. So what possible benefit is he getting out of it? What possible benefit is this man getting from cutting his deal with the State of Florida? Well, what he is doing is keeping himself from frying in the electric chair. It's very simple. And that is a very strong motive, folks. That's a pretty strong motive for coming forward and testifying. That's a pretty motive for doing just about anything. It's called self-preservation.

(R 797-798)

The state then argued that if it was only manslaughter in that Robertson didn't know there was going to be a killing, then Omer's testimony as to premeditation would be false and thus why would Omer plead guilty to first degree murder if he wasn't telling the truth as to premeditation. (R 807) Appellant's defense counsel objected and moved for mistrial on the basis that "the obvious inference from his statements is that in light of the co-defendant's plea to the charge these defendants must also be guilty of the charge." (R 807)

The proper standard of review is whether the court erred in denying the motion for mistrial. A ruling on a motion for mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court; a motion

-14-

for mistrial should only be granted in cases of absolute legal necessity. <u>Salvatore v. State</u>, 366 So.2d 745 (Fla. 1978) cert. den. 444 U.S. 885 (1979); <u>Wilson v. State</u>, 436 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1983); <u>Flowers v. State</u>, 351 So.2d 764 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1977). The granting of a mistrial should be only for a specified fundamental or prejudicial error which has been committed in the trial of such a nature as will vitiate the result. <u>Perry v. State</u>, 200 So. 525 (Fla. 1941). If the alleged error does no substantial harm and causes no material prejudice, a mistrial should not be declared. Id.

The proper exercise of closing argument is to review the evidence and to explicate those inferences which may reasonably be drawn from the evidence. <u>Bertolotti v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 130 (Fla. 1985). Wide latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury. <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 326 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1975); <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 133 So.2d 729 (Fla. 1961) cert. denied 369 U.S. 880 (1962). Logical inferences may be drawn, and counsel is allowed to advance all legitimate arguments. <u>Spencer</u>, supra. The control of counsel's comments is within the trial court's discretion, and an appellate court will not interfere unless an abuse of discretion is shown. <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982), cert. den. 103 S.Ct. 184; <u>Thomas</u>, supra; <u>Paramore v. State</u>, 229 So.2d 855 (Fla. 1969) modified, 408 U.S. 935 (1972).

The statements complained of are not a clear abuse of discretion, and nor do they rise to the magnitude of a denial of

-15-

fundamental fairness. See Bush v. State, 461 So.2d 936 (Fla. 1984), and Teffeteller v. State, 439 So.2d 840 (Fla. 1983). The comments were not of such a nature so as to poison the minds of the jurors or to prejudice them so that a fair and impartial verdict could not be rendered; they did not materially contribute to Appellant's conviction and were not so harmful or fundamentally tainted so as to require a new trial; they were not so inflammatory that they might have influenced the jury to reach a more severe verdict of guilt then it would have otherwise. Blair v. State, 406 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1981) and cases cited therein at 1107. This court will not presume that jurors are led astray, to wrongful verdicts, by the impassioned eloquence and illogical pathos of counsel. Paramore, supra.

In determining whether the comments could constitute prejudicial error, the comments must be examined within the context of the trial to determine whether the prosecutor's behavior amounted to prejudicial error-the court must consider the probable effect the comments would have on the jury's ability to judge the evidence fairly. <u>United States v. Young</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 36 Cr.L. 3143 (1985). In Young the court recognized that it should come as no surprise that in the heat of argument, counsel do occasionally make remarks that are not justified by the testimony, and which are, or may be, prejudicial to the accused. Id.

The jury heard Omer Williamson testify that he plead guilty

-16-

to first degree murder, not manslaughter. The obvious inference is that a first degree murder was committed, not a manslaughter. The prosecutor was simply commenting on the evidence presented to the jury by pointing out an obvious inference in rebuttal to Robertson's defense counsel's argument that only a manslaughter was committed. There is no unfair prejudicial impact constituting reversible error, especially since the defense concentrated on attempting to destroy Omer Williamson's credibility by arguing that his plea bargain-"sweetheart" deal was based on untrue testimony as to premeditation. If there was any error, such error was harmless as there was overwhelming evidence of guilt emanating from witnesses other than Omer Williamson.

### THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN SENTENCING WILLIAMSON TO DEATH WHEN HIS CO-DEFENDANT, OMER WILLIAMSON, RECEIVED A LIFE SENTENCE

Appellant claims the court erred in sentencing him to death while co-defendant Omer Williamson only received a life sentence. Appellant argues that Omer Williamson is equally culpable.

Appellee disagrees with Appellant's characterization of the evidence. It is clear that Appellant was the dominant actor, as Appellant is the person who first suggested killing the victim. (R 510) Appellant is the person who formulated the plan (R 511) and initiated the acts toward acquiring the weapon. (R 512) Appellant repeatedly told other inmates that they were going to kill the victim (R 515), and recruited Robertson to act as the lookout. (R 519) Appellant did the actual killing, stabbing the victim with the knife and with the rod. (R 525-527) Appellant 'came up' with a story for Omer Williamson to use in order to 'beat' any first degree murder charge. (R 536-537) Appellant was the leader, with Williamson and Robertson following him. (R 536) As to Omer Williamson's role in the murder, he was simply an accomplice who followed Appellant's plan; he held the victim while Appellant murdered the victim. The jury and judge believed Omer Williamson's testimony. The

ΙI

-18-

evidence clearly establishes that Appellant was the dominant actor in the entire criminal episode. This court has consistently approved the imposition of the death sentence when the circumstances indicate that the defendant was the dominating force behind the homicide, even though the defendant's accomplice received a life sentence for participation in the same crime. <u>Marek v. State</u>, 492 So.2d 1055 (Fla. 1986), <u>Bolender v. State</u>, 422 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1982); <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 366 So.2d 752 (Fla. 1978) cert. den. 444 U.S. 885; <u>White v. State</u>, 415 So.2d 719 (Fla. 1982) cert. den. 103 S.Ct. 474. It is permissible to impose different sentences on capital co-defendants whose various degrees of participation and culpability are different from one another. <u>Hoffman v. State</u>, 474 So.2d 1178 (Fla. 1985).

The sentence of an accomplice may affect the imposition of a death sentence, depending upon the circumstances. <u>Gafford v</u>. <u>State</u>, 387 So.2d 333 (Fla. 1980); <u>Salvatore v. State</u>, 366 So.2d 745 (Fla. 1978); <u>Smith v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 704 (Fla. 1978). However, the exercise of prosecutorial discretion in granting immunity to a less culpable accomplice, co-conspirator, or aider and abettor does not render invalid the imposition of an otherwise appropriate death sentence. <u>Hoffman</u>, supra; <u>Palmes v</u>. <u>Wainwright</u>, 460 So.2d 362 (Fla. 1984); <u>Downs v. State</u>, 386 So.2d 788 (Fla.) cert. den. 449 U.S. 976 (1980). Here, Omer Williamson agreed to plead guilty as charged and testify truth-

-19-

fully in exchange for a state recommendation of life, and 'protection' in prison. In <u>Brown v. State</u>, 473 So.2d 1260 (F1a. 1985) this Court was faced with a similar situation wherein the accomplice received a life sentence after pleading guilty to second degree murder and agreeing to testify at Brown's trial. This court explained

> The evidence introduced at trial showed that Appellant was the leader whose role in the murder was more significant than those of his accomplices. Dudley's participation was minor compared to Appellant's. Moreover, Dudley's plea, sentence, and agreement to testify for the state were products of prosecutorial discretion and negotiation. See Profitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 96 S.Ct. 2960, 49 L.Ed.2d 913 (1976); Witt v. State, 342 So.2d 497 (Fla.) cert. den. 434 U.S. 935, 98 S.Ct. 422, 54 L.Ed.2d 294 (1977). We do not find any infirmity in Appellant's sentence based on the unequal fate of Dudley.

473 So.2d at 1268-1269.

The jury was aware of Omer Williamson's conditional plea of guilty and possible life sentence throughout the trial and during sentencing. (R 539, 559) Omer Williamson had not been sentenced at the time of Appellant's trial or sentencing; Omer Williamson's plea bargain contained the proviso that he testify truthfully, something that could not be determined until after trial. As such, there was no evidence per se before the jury as to Omer Williamson's sentence, as he had not yet been sentenced. However, as stated earlier, the jury was well aware of the terms of Omer Williamson's conditional plea. (R 539, 559; and Defense Exhibit 5, R 577)

At the sentencing hearing the state admitted into evidence everything that happened at trial, and produced two witnesses who testified as to Appellant's prior conviction for which he was incarcerated at the time of the present offense. The defense presented the testimony of Appellant (in which Appellant admitted killing the victim) and the testimony of a prison official as to the effect of a life sentence on Appellant. Defense counsel asked for instructions on the mitigating circumstances concerning whether the victim was a participant in the defendant's conduct or consented to the act (§921.141(6)(c) Fla. Stat.) and any other aspect of the defendant's character or record and any other circumstance of the offense. (R 930-931, 946) Defense counsel never mentioned the unimposed life sentence to be received by Omer Williamson, nor did defense counsel introduce any evidence concerning 'equal culpability'.

The jury was aware that Omer Williamson would probably receive a life sentence and the reasons therefor, yet the jury still recommended and the trial judge imposed a sentence of death. They reached this result because the death sentence is clearly appropriate regardless of what happens to Omer Williamson.

-21-

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